
 
 

 
7275 W. MAIN STREET, KALAMAZOO, MI 49009-9334 

269-216-5220           Fax 375-7180          
www.oshtemo.org 

 
 

 
NOTICE 

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
PLANNING COMMISSION - REGULAR MEETING 

 
MEETING WILL BE HELD IN PERSON 

AT OSHTEMO TOWNSHIP HALL 
7275 W MAIN STREET 

Masks Are Optional in Oshtemo Township Buildings 
 

(Meeting will be available for viewing through https://www.publicmedianet.org/gavel-to-gavel/oshtemo-township) 
 

THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 16, 2023 
6:00 P.M. 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Welcome and Call to Order  
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

3. Approval of Agenda 
 

4. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 
 

5. Approval of Minutes:  October 26, 2023 
 

6. 2024 Meeting Dates 
 

7. Public Hearing – Special Use and Site Plan – Friendship Animal Hospital 
Hansen Building and Design Corporation, on behalf of Dr. Laura Billings, is requesting site plan and 
special use approval to construct a 5,614 square foot veterinary and small animal clinic at 2999 S 11th 
Street. 
 

8. Work Session:  
a. Continued Discussion: Private Street Ordinance 
b. Continued Discussion: MU District  
c. Introduction: 57.80 Keeping of Livestock and Honey Bees 

 

9. Other Updates and Business 
 

10. Adjournment 

1

https://www.publicmedianet.org/gavel-to-gavel/oshtemo-township


Oshtemo Township Board of Trustees 

Supervisor 

Cheri Bell 
Clerk 

Dusty Farmer 

Treasurer 

Clare Buszka 

Trustees 

Kristin Cole 

Zak Ford 

Michael Chapman

216-5220 cbell@oshtemo.org

216-5224 dfarmer@oshtemo.org 

216-5260 cbuszka@oshtemo.org 

760-6769
375-4260

271-5513

Township Department Information 

Assessor: 

Kristine Biddle 

Fire Chief: 

Greg McComb 

Ordinance Enforcement: 

Rick Suwarsky 

Parks Director: 

Vanessa Street
Rental Info 

Planning Director: 

Iris Lubbert 

Public Works Director: 

Anna Horner 

216-5225 assessor@oshtemo.org 

375-0487 gmccomb@oshtemo.org 

216-5227 rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org 

216-5233 
216-5224 

vstreet@oshtemo.org 
oshtemo@oshtemo.org 

216-5223 ilubbert@oshtemo.org 

216-5228 ahorner@oshtemo.org 

Policy for Public Comment 
Township Board Regular Meetings, Planning Commission & ZBA Meetings 

All public comment shall be received during one of the following portions of the Agenda of an open meeting: 

a. Citizen Comment on Non-Agenda Items or Public Comment – while this is not intended to be a forum for

dialogue and/or debate, if a citizen inquiry can be answered succinctly and briefly, it will be addressed or it may

be delegated to the appropriate Township Official or staff member to respond at a later date. More complicated

questions can be answered during Township business hours through web contact, phone calls, email

(oshtemo@oshtemo.org), walk-in visits, or by appointment.

b. After an agenda item is presented by staff and/or an applicant, public comment will be invited. At the close of
public comment there will be Board discussion prior to call for a motion. While comments that include questions
are important, depending on the nature of the question, whether it can be answered without further research,
and the relevance to the agenda item at hand, the questions may not be discussed during the Board deliberation
which follows.

Anyone wishing to make a comment will be asked to come to the podium to facilitate the audio/visual 
capabilities of the meeting room. Speakers will be invited to provide their name, but it is not required. 

All public comment offered during public hearings shall be directed, and relevant, to the item of business on 
which the public hearing is being conducted. Comment during the Public Comment Non-Agenda Items may be 
directed to any issue. 

All public comment shall be limited to four (4) minutes in duration unless special permission has been granted in 
advance by the Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting. 

Public comment shall not be repetitive, slanderous, abusive, threatening, boisterous, or contrary to the orderly 
conduct of business. The Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting shall terminate any public comment which 
does not follow these guidelines. 

(adopted 5/9/2000) 
(revised 5/14/2013) 
(revised 1/8/2018) 

Questions and concerns are welcome outside of public meetings during Township Office hours through phone calls, 
stopping in at the front desk, by email, and by appointment. The customer service counter is open from Monday- 
Thursday, 8 a.m.-1 p.m. and 2-5 p.m., and on Friday, 8 a.m.–1 p.m. Additionally, questions and concerns are 
accepted at all hours through the website contact form found at www.oshtemo.org, email, postal service, and 
voicemail. Staff and elected official contact information is provided below. If you do not have a specific person to 
contact, please direct your inquiry to oshtemo@oshtemo.org and it will be directed to the appropriate person. 

Neil Sikora nsikora@oshtemo.org

kcole@oshtemo.org 

zford@oshtemo.org 

375-4260 mchapman@oshtemo.org

2

mailto:libbyhc@oshtemo.org
mailto:dfarmer@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbuszka@oshtemo.org
mailto:cbell@oshtemo.org
mailto:kcole@oshtemo.org
mailto:zford@oshtemo.org
mailto:kbradford@oshtemo.org
mailto:assessor@oshtemo.org
mailto:gmccomb@oshtemo.org
mailto:rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
mailto:khigh@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:ilubbert@oshtemo.org
mailto:ahorner@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
http://www.oshtemo.org/
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org


 

1 
 

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
DRAFT MINUTES OF A MEETING HELD OCTOBER 26, 2023 
 
Agenda  
 
PUBLIC HEARING – CONDITIONAL REZONING – 8469 STADIUM DRIVE 
Khem Virk was requesting to conditionally rezone 8469 Stadium Drive, from its current 
split zoning  of R-2, Residence, and C, Local Business District to C, Local Business 
District, to facilitate the redevelopment of the property into a 7,500 square foot, multi-
tenant commercial building. 
 
WORK SESSION: Private Drive/Street Ordinance Update 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
A meeting of the Oshtemo Charter Township Planning Commission was held Thursday, October 
26, 2023, commencing at approximately 6:00 p.m. at the Oshtemo Township Hall, 7275 West 
Main Street.  
 
ALL MEMBERS  
WERE PRESENT:  Phil Doorlag, Chair 
    Deb Everett 
    Zak Ford, Township Board Liaison 
    Scot Jefferies      
    Micki Maxwell, Vice Chair 
    Scott Makohn 
    Alistair Smith  
  
Also present: Jim Porter, Township Attorney, Leeanna Harris, Zoning Administrator, Colten 
Hutson, Zoning Administrator, Suzanne Schulz, representative of Progressive AE, and several  
members of the public. 
 
Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 
 
 Chairperson Doorlag called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. and invited those present 
to join in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Approval of Agenda 
 Hearing no requests for changes to the agenda, the Chair asked for a motion. 
  
Mr. Ford made a motion to approve the Agenda as presented. Ms. Everett seconded the 
motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 
 
 Mr. Curt Aardema, AVB, 4200 W. Centre Avenue, said he had marked up a draft of the 
MU District document with comments for consideration in an effort to be efficient, distributed 
copies to Commissioners, and said he would provide copies to the Township office as well. 
 

3



 

2 
 

 The Chair thanked him and said Commissioners would review the documents for future 
discussion. 
Approval of Minutes: September 14, 2023 

 
Chairperson Doorlag asked if there were additions, deletions, or corrections to the 

Minutes of the Meeting of September 14, 2023. 
 
Hearing none, he asked for a motion. 
  

  Mr. Ford made a motion to approve the Minutes of the Meeting of September 14, 2023 
as presented. Mr. Smith seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
 Chairperson Doorlag moved to the next agenda item and asked Ms. Harris for her 
presentation.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING – CONDITIONAL REZONING – 8469 STADIUM DRIVE 
 
 Ms. Harris said Khem Virk was requesting to conditionally rezone 8469 Stadium 
Drive, Parcel No. 3905-33-402-341, from its current split zoning of R-2, Residence, and C, 
Local Business District to C, Local Business District, to facilitate the redevelopment of 
the property into a 7,500 square foot, multi-tenant commercial building. 
 
 Ms. Harris indicated that presently, the 1.58-acre property at 8469 Stadium Drive is dual-
zoned C: Local Business District on the northern section and RR: Rural Residential on the  
southern section. The applicant wished to rezone the entire property to C: Local Business 
District in order to redevelop the property. 
 
 The EZ Mart liquor and convenience store has been operating at 8469 Stadium Drive for 
at least 22 years. The applicant, Khem Virk, was proposing to demolish the existing 2,240 
square foot retail space to build a new 7,500 square foot, 3-unit building, one of which would 
include the EZ Mart store. The remaining two units would be developed as “white box,” with 
future uses to be determined. A site plan for the proposed 7,500 multi-tenant building is one of 
the conditions of rezoning outlined by the applicant. 
 
Article 66 — Conditional Rezoning Considerations 
 Ms. Harris summarized the conditions the applicant was proposing  for rezoning of the 
property at 8469 Stadium Drive:  

1. The conditional rezoning will be tied to the site plan approved by the Township Planning 
Commission. 

2. Permitted uses will be limited to the following indicated in the C - Local Business District: 
a. Any business primarily for the retail sale of merchandise or services in which any 
manufacturing, assembling, or fabricating is merely incidental to and an unsubstantial part of 
said business. 
b. Banks, credit unions, savings and loan offices and similar financial institutions. 
c. Offices. 
d. Laundromats and dry-cleaning establishments, excluding those establishments providing 
cleaning services for other laundromat and dry-cleaning establishments. 

4



 

3 
 

e. Medical clinics. 
f.  Pet shops. 

g. Houses of worship. 
h. Commercial Center 
i. Accessory buildings and uses customarily incidental to the foregoing. 

3. Permitted uses with conditions and special uses will remain as allowed by the C – Local 
Business District. 
 
 She noted Article 66 of the Township Zoning Ordinance outlines the process for a 
conditional rezoning to be considered, which is consistent with Section 405 of the Michigan 
Zoning Enabling Act (MCL 125.3405) by which an owner seeking a rezoning may voluntarily 
propose conditions regarding the use and/or development of land as part of the rezoning 
request. The Zoning Enabling Act, which allows Townships to zone property, does not provide 
any required standards that a Planning Commission must consider when reviewing a rezoning 
request. However, there are some generally recognized factors that should be deliberated 
before a rezoning decision is made. Ms. Harris outlined these considerations along with staff’s 
analysis, incorporating the applicants’ proposed conditions: 
 

1. Master Plan Designation 
The Township’s adopted 2017 Future land Use Map designates 8469 Stadium Drive and the 
properties to the north, northeast, and east as Neighborhood Commercial. The Desired Future 
Development Pattern for “Neighborhood Commercial” as outlined in the Master Plan are: 
• Be located on an arterial or a major collector street. 
• Be located in the rural portion of the Township to serve rural residents. 
• Designed to be compatible with 

adjacent land uses in building scale and site development. 
• Utilize access management techniques like shared curb cuts to reduce impact on road system. 
 
“Neighborhood Commercial” is described as low intensity commercial and retail establishments. 
Specifically, the Future Land Use category of Neighborhood Commercial is intended to support 
the Rural Preservation Strategy of the Plan. Per this strategy, locally oriented service 
establishments would be appropriate. She noted there is no existing zoning district within the 
Township Ordinance that accomplishes the goals of the Neighborhood Commercial designation. 
As is, the C, Local Business zoning classification allows for uses that would be well outside the 
desired character for the area. This is why only roughly half of the site is currently zoned straight 
commercial so as to limit the scale of development at this site.  
 
A conditional rezoning for the entirety of the property is appropriate to ensure is approved is 
tailored to the desired goals and outcomes for the area. In their conditions the applicant has 
tailored the permitted uses to be more in line with the vision of the Master Plan’s Neighborhood 
Commercial designation. In addition, by tying the rezoning to a site plan for a 7,500 square foot, 
three-unit building, the reviewing body is guaranteed a specific development and design for the 
site. In reviewing the proposed site plan, staff deemed the proposed development and building 

5



 

4 
 

scale compatible with adjacent land uses. The proposed rezoning conditions honor the intent 
and are consistent with the Master Plan’s Neighborhood Commercial designation. 

2. Consistency of the Zoning Classification in the General Area 
8469 Stadium Drive is in the middle of a wide assortment of zoning classifications. The subject 
site is currently split-zoned, with the northern portion being zoned C, Local Business, and the 
southern portion being zoned R-2, Residence. To the north and northwest, there are properties 
that are zoned RR: Rural Residential. To the southeast, there are properties zoned R- 2: 
Residence District. To the northeast, there are properties that are zoned I-1: Industrial and I-R: 
Industrial. 
 
Rezoning the back half of the property to commercial would be consistent with the zoning 
classifications in the area. The proposed use is consistent with the C, Local Business zoning 
classification. 
 

3. Consistency and Compatibility with General Land Use Patterns in the Area 
Per the Township Master Plan, the Future Land Use category of Neighborhood Commercial is 
intended to support the Rural Preservation Strategy of the Plan. Per this strategy, Neighborhood 
Commercial areas are in strategic locations within the western portion of the Township. The Master 
Plan designates these areas as low intensity commercial and retail establishments that would 
accommodate a planned mixture of farm service business and other locally oriented service 
establishments. The intent is to provide services, like a small convenience store, that will 
support and be compatible with nearby residential development. The establishment of a 
neighborhood commercial enterprise at this location would be consistent with the 2017 Future 
Land Use designation for this area. 
 
The applicant was proposing to construct a three-unit, 7,500 square foot retail establishment. 
One of the three units within the building will be 4,000 square feet and the other two 1,750 
square feet. The existing EZ mart store on this site is an estimated 2,240 square feet. A winery 
establishment to the north of the subject site is an estimated 5,520 square feet. The scale of the 
proposed building, and specifically the size of the proposed units within the building, ensure 
lower scale commercial operations consistent with land use patterns in the area. 
 

4. Utilities and Infrastructure 
Utilities and infrastructure are considered in a request for rezoning to ensure that public facilities 
can service any possible development that would occur on the site. Public water is available 
along Stadium Drive; however, based on the location, sanitary sewers are not available. 
Therefore, after being reviewed and approved by the Public Works Department, a septic tank 
was proposed on site. 
 

5. Reasonable Use under Current Zoning Classification 
The property is currently zoned C: Local Business District on the northern portion of the property 
with the southern portion zoned RR: Rural Residential. The present EZ Mart is operating in the 
area that is zoned C: Local Business District, which is a permitted use by right within the C 
district. Reasonable use under the current zoning ordinance is still achievable, even with split 
zoning. However, some development restrictions are present due to the split zoning, which 

6



 

5 
 

is the reason for the conditional rezoning request. 
 

6. Effects on Surrounding Property 
The applicant indicated the entire subject site would be conditionally rezoned and 
redeveloped into a multi-tenant commercial establishment. It is intended that EZ Mart, the 
existing use onsite, will occupy the 4,000 square foot unit; the other two 1,750 square foot units 
are for future tenants. Any redevelopment of the property would have effects on the surrounding 
property in the area. Ultimately, the impacts on the surrounding properties may be more significant 
with the proposed 7,500 square-foot multi-tenant building than what is currently experienced by 
the 2,240 square foot convenience store on the property or by the winery located to the north. 
However, the 2017 Oshtemo Township Master Plan determined that such an impact would be 
minimal due to the area in question being planned for neighborhood commercial, subject to 
the proposed use complying with the neighborhood commercial intended uses. Staff felt the 
proposed site plan allows for three uses that would be considered appropriate following the 
intent of the neighborhood commercial designation. 
 

 Ms. Harris then walked through the staff analysis of Section 64:  Site Plan Review: 
General Zoning Compliance:  

Zoning: 8469 Stadium Drive is currently dual-zoned RR: Rural Residential on the south and C: 
Local Business District on the north. If the rezoning were approved, the entire site would be C: 
Local Business District. The proposed percentage of land on-site covered by impervious 
surfaces is 42% and the remaining 58% is reserved for open space. All general zoning 
requirements have been met.  

Parcel Dimensions: The site under consideration is about 1.8 acres with frontage on 3 streets 
(Yucca Drive to the east is not yet installed). On Stadium Drive, there is approximately 307 feet 
of frontage and along South 5th, approximately 223 feet of frontage. The parcel exceeds the 
minimum property area (50,000 square feet) and minimum frontage (200 feet) requirements 
within the C: Local Business District. 

Setbacks: Generally, properties within the C: Local Commercial District must have a minimum 
front yard setback of 70 feet however, there are some exceptions. In this case, the ordinance 
requires a 120-foot front yard setback from the centerline of Stadium Drive. The proposed 
building is located approximately 121.7 feet from Stadium Drive, 70 feet from South 5th Street, 
and 71.4 feet from the uninstalled Yucca Drive. Per the ordinance, the minimum setback 
distance between any building and any rear or interior side property line shall be 20 Ft or the 
height of the building, whichever is greater. The proposed building is just under 24 Ft tall. The 
proposed rear yard setback is over 100 feet. All setback requirements have been met. 
 
Access and Circulation 
Access: The property currently has an access point off Stadium Drive. To improve safety, the 
applicant has moved the access point to South 5th Street. Circulation aisles within the proposed 
site plan are approximately 24 feet wide and have safe turning radii, with a 30-foot entrance 
width from South 5th Street. Fire engines and other vehicles have ample space and circulation if 

7



 

6 
 

emergency response is needed. Oshtemo’s Fire Marshal reviewed the proposed layout and had 
no concerns in terms of access and circulation. Ms. Harris noted all driveways will need to be 
reviewed and approved by the Road Commission of Kalamazoo County and that an approved 
driveway permit will need to be submitted prior to building permit issuance. 
 
Additionally, she said the applicant provided a letter of intent in accordance with Article 52.140 
requesting a deviation from the requirements in Article 52.60 that states loading and unloading 
areas shall be to the rear of the building. The applicant requested to locate the loading and 
unloading areas to the east side of the building with the following three provided reasons: 

1. The existing site is not only a corner lot, but has three frontages. 
2. The main entrance is now off S. 5th street; the loading area is to the rear of this main 

entrance. 
3. The site layout and traffic circulation work well with much of the parking on the north and 

south sides of the building. The loading zone on the back (south) of the building would 
hinder pedestrian foot traffic to the building. 

 
 Ms. Harris indicated the requested deviation appropriate given the site’s layout and 
location between three streets. 
 
Parking: The proposed structure on this site will serve three general commercial uses. Section 
52.100 of the zoning ordinance for uses of this nature requires one parking space for every 150 
square feet (SF) of net floor area. A 7,500 SF building with 5,250 SF usable floor area (UFA) is 
proposed, with the result that 35 parking spaces are required. The proposed site plan provides a 
total of 35 parking spaces, three of which are ADA. All parking requirements have been met.  
She noted restaurants will not be permitted at this location. 
 
Shared Use Path: The Township’s Non-Motorized Transportation Plan identifies a 6-foot wide 
Shared Use Path along the frontage of this property on Stadium Drive. The applicant has shown 
this path on their plan, along with a ramp and detectable warning plates, and will coordinate its 
design and installation with the Township’s Public Works Department. 
 
Internal Sidewalk Network: Per Section 57.90 of the Ordinance, an internal sidewalk network is 
required. The proposed site plan has a sidewalk on the northern and western side of the 
building abutting parking and includes a sidewalk connection from the building to Stadium Drive. 
 

Building Design 
Building Information: The proposed 7,500 SF one story building will be 24 feet tall. The proposed 
dumpster enclosure will be placed in the rear right corner of the site and made of cedar planks. 
The applicant has provided elevations. She noted the elevations do not include materials or 
color. Updated elevation drawings including these details will be required. 
 
Fencing: No fencing was proposed. 
 
Lighting: A lighting and photometric plan was provided that meets all lighting ordinance 
requirements. 

8



 

7 
 

 
Signs: The applicant was proposing one monument sign near the northwest of the property and 
indicated all signage shall be reviewed separately by Township Staff through the Township’s sign 
permit application process after site plan approval. The location of the monument sign is 
satisfactory. 
 
Landscaping 
A landscaping plan was submitted that meets all landscape ordinance requirements. 
 
Engineering 
Prein & Newhof and the Oshtemo Public Works Department reviewed the project site plan and 
noted all on-site engineering concerns have been addressed. 
 
Fire Department 
The Township Fire Marshal was satisfied with the overall design of the site. One fire hydrant is 
required to be placed on-site and has been provided in the site plan. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 Ms. Harris said Planning Department staff recommended the Planning Commission 
recommend approval of the proposed Conditional Rezoning for EZ Mart at 8469 Stadium Drive 
from the split-zoned C: Local Business District and RR: Rural Residential to C: Local Business 
District with the conditions outlined by the applicant to the Township Board for the following 
reasons: 

1. The Oshtemo Township 2017 Master Plan’s Future Land Use Plan designates the subject 
property as Neighborhood Commercial. The restricted list of uses and site plan for a 7,500 
square foot, three-unit commercial building are consistent with the intent of the Neighborhood 
Commercial Designation. 

2. The proposed uses and scale of the proposed building are consistent with the land use pattern 
in the area. 

3. The subject property is adjacent to other C: Local Business District properties to the east and 
industrial uses to the north. The proposed conditional rezoning is consistent with the zoning 
classifications in the general area. 

4. The conditional rezoning of the subject site to C: Local Business District would provide a 
reasonable use of the property. 
 
 If the conditional rezoning is approved, the following conditions shall be tied to the 
correlating site plan: 

1. Planning Commission to grant a deviation from the requirements in Article 52.60 that states that 
loading and unloading areas shall be to the rear of the building. Permitting loading/unloading 
areas to be on the east side of the building. 

2. An approved driveway permit from the Road Commission of Kalamazoo County shall be submitted 
to the Township prior to building permit issuance. 

3. The existing access point on Stadium Drive shall be closed. 
4. Sidewalk connections shall be coordinated with the Oshtemo Township Public Works department 

9



 

8 
 

and installed prior to occupancy. 
5. Updated elevation drawings, including façade materials and colors, shall be provided to the 

Township prior to building permit issuance. 
6. All signage shall be reviewed separately by staff through the Township’s sign permit application 

process after site plan approval. 
7. An approved SESC permit shall be provided to Oshtemo Township prior to building permit 

issuance. 
8. A 20’ public utility easement is proposed and will need to be recorded and submitted to the City 

of Kalamazoo and Oshtemo Township. 
9. The installation of all utilities shall be coordinated with the appropriate corresponding agency. 

 
 Chairperson Doorlag thanked Ms. Harris for her presentation and asked if the easement 
for water was only along Stadium Drive. 

 She suggested he ask the applicant.   

 Mr. Jefferies asked how this request differs from a similar one the Commission denied 
recently. 

 Ms. Harris said this request is different in size and scale, being closer to the size of other 
buildings in the area as well as less intensity of use. 

 The Chair expanded that the previous request was for a 12,000 sq ft building for one 
tenant; this request is for a total of 7,500 square feet for three businesses. 

 Mr. Jefferies said it was desirable to retain the rural character. 

 Chairperson Doorlag said as this property is on two street frontages, the buffer is not as 
critical here. The look and feel of the parcel is different than the one that is on Stadium Drive 
only, and it is best practice to move the drive to 5th St. 

 Mr. Jefferies asked if the penetrator St. on Yucca is being abandoned. 

 Ms. Harris said it is still currently plotted. 

 Attorney Porter noted the property owner is planning to reverse that in the future. 

  As there were no further questions, the Chair asked if the applicant wished to speak. 

 Mr. Tyler Cravens, Mid-State Engineering of Delton MI, said the overall goal is to provide 
a better building with more goods and services for residents. He noted a 20 foot water 
easement is needed as two public fire hydrants will need to be installed. 

  Mr. Jefferies asked if there is any thought the entire building could be a larger 
convenience store. 

 Mr. Cravens said neither another convenience store nor an expansion is planned. He 
also confirmed the back door would be used by employees only. Customers will park in the rear 
and follow a sidewalk to the front door.  

 Mr. Jefferies asked if there might be a drive-thru in the future. 

10



 

9 
 

 Mr. Cravens said a coffee shop or restaurant is prohibited, so there will be no drive-thru 
added. 

 Mr. Everett asked what the process would be if the applicant wishes to change an 
approved plan. 

 Attorney Porter said in such a case the applicant would have to come back to the 
Commission with a request to change the conditional rezoning and the site plan. 

 He also confirmed for Mr. Jefferies that the conditional zoning would follow the property 
regardless of who owns it. 

 Hearing no further questions, the Chair moved to a Public Hearing.  

 Mr. Larry Cruz spoke, indicating he lives across the Street from 5th Street. He expressed 
concern about septic issues, an increase in traffic noise, that people currently drink while sitting  
in the parking lot waiting for the store to open, that there are already many traffic accidents in 
that area, whether open store hours will be limited, a concern that his property taxes may be 
increased as a result of the new building, and a suggestion that a back-up system be provided 
to power the store out of concern about power outages causing spoiled food merchandise. 

 Ms. Denise Runge said she lives across from EZ Mart and often hears screechy tires; 
there are many accidents, and she is most worried about the noise from a building three times 
the size of the current business. She also picks up trash every day left by store customers and 
expects that to increase. She was also concerned about her property’s value. 

 Hearing no further comments, Chairperson Doorlag closed the Public Hearing and 
moved to Board Deliberations. 

 Mr. Jefferies said he sees the benefits to safety and traffic concerns if the 5th Street 
access change is made; success of the access/use for parking lot loading and unloading will 
depend on the owner managing it with drivers. 

 Mr. Ford agreed that traffic safety should improve with the change to 5th St. access. 

 Chairperson Doorlag thought it might be valid to limit hours of operation, but Attorney 
Porter said there is no limitation on open hours in the Township’s ordinance and noted that 
conditions requested by the applicant by law cannot be changed by the Commission. 

 Mr. Smith wondered if loading/unloading should be addressed in the site plan. 

 The Chair indicated it is up to the business owner as to how they operate their business 
and noted if loading/unloading is done in the rear it will interfere with customers trying to access 
the building. 

 Mr. Ford said he was sympathetic to residents’ traffic concerns, but felt what is being 
proposed will provide improved traffic management and benefits to the Township and supported 
the recommendation for approval. 

 Chairperson Doorlag asked for a motion. 

 Mr. Ford made a motion to approve the conditional rezoning request to rezone 8469 
Stadium Drive, Parcel No. 3905-33-402-341, from its current split zoning of R-2, Residence, and 

11



 

10 
 

C, Local Business District to C, Local Business District to facilitate the redevelopment of the 
property into a 7,500 square foot, multi-tenant commercial building based on the following 
reasons: 

1. The Oshtemo Township 2017 Master Plan’s Future Land Use Plan designates the subject 
property as Neighborhood Commercial. The restricted list of uses and site plan for a 7,500 
square foot, three-unit commercial building are consistent with the intent of the Neighborhood 
Commercial Designation. 
2. The proposed uses and scale of the proposed building are consistent with the land use 
pattern in the area. 
3. The subject property is adjacent to other C: Local Business District properties to the east and 
industrial uses to the north. The proposed conditional rezoning is consistent with the zoning 
classifications in the general area. 
4.The conditional rezoning of the subject site to C: Local Business District would provide a 
reasonable use of the property. 
 
Mr. Smith supported the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously. 

 Mr. Doorlag made a motion to approve the correlating site plan as requested to include 
the deviation for loading and unloading as listed below in the nine staff recommendations for 
approval: 

1. Planning Commission to grant a deviation from the requirements in Article 52.60 that states 
that loading and unloading areas shall be to the rear of the building. Permitting 
loading/unloading areas to be on the east side of the building. 
2. An approved driveway permit from the Road Commission of Kalamazoo County shall be 
submitted to the Township prior to building permit issuance. 
3. The existing access point on Stadium Drive shall be closed. 
4. Sidewalk connections shall be coordinated with the Oshtemo Township Public Works 
department and installed prior to occupancy. 
5. Updated elevation drawings, including façade materials and colors, shall be provided to the 
Township prior to building permit issuance. 
6. All signage shall be reviewed separately by staff through the Township’s sign permit 
application process after site plan approval. 
7. An approved SESC permit shall be provided to Oshtemo Township prior to building permit 
issuance. 
8. A 20’ public utility easement is proposed and will need to be recorded and submitted to the 
City of Kalamazoo and Oshtemo Township. 
9. The installation of all utilities shall be coordinated with the appropriate corresponding agency. 
Mr. Smith supported the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously. 

 
WORK SESSION: Private Street Ordinance 
 
 Chairperson Doorlag moved the meeting to a work session at approximately 7:00 p.m. 
  
 Suzanne Schulz, a representative from Progressive AE provided a presentation on the 
purpose, intent, and outcomes of a Private Street Ordinance for Oshtemo. She described how it  

12



 

11 
 

would be developed and organized, sought their input, and as the group was very enthusiastic 
about the approach, process and desired outcome, she indicated when she returns in 
December, she will bring a draft Ordinance for their consideration. If approved at that meeting, it 
will be recommended to the Township Board for approval at a January 2024 meeting.  
 
 
OTHER UPDATES AND BUSINESS 
 
 Mr. Jefferies reported he attended the Citizen Planner program provided by MSU 
Extension and found it very helpful. 
  
ADJOURNMENT 
 
 With there being no further business to consider, Chairperson Doorlag adjourned the 
meeting at approximately 7:56 p.m.  

Minutes prepared: 
October 27, 2023 
 
Minutes approved: 
___________, 2023 

13



This pages intentionally left blank

14



 
 
7275 W. MAIN STREET, KALAMAZOO, MI 49009 
                    269-216-5220     Fax 375-7180      

www.oshtemo.org 
 
 

 

 

Planning Commission 

Second and Fourth Thursdays of every month @ 6PM 

 

Proposed 2024 Meeting Dates 

2nd Thursday 
of the Month 

4th Thursday 
of the Month 

1/11 1/25 
2/8 2/22 

3/14 3/28 
4/11 4/25 
5/9 5/23 

6/13 6/27 
7/11 7/25 
8/8 8/22 

9/12 9/26 
10/10 10/24 

11/21* No meeting 
12/19* No meeting 

1/9/2025 1/23/2025 
 

*Dates shifted to avoid holidays. 

15



This page intentionally left blank

16



Mtg Date:   November 16, 2023 

To:  Oshtemo Township Planning Commission 

From:  Leeanna Harris, Zoning Administrator 

Applicant: Friendship Animal Hospital 

Owner:  Dr. Laura Billings 

Property: 2999 South 11th Street, Parcel Number 3905-25-455-024 

Zoning:  R-3: Residence District 

Request: The applicant is reques�ng Special Use and Site Plan approval in order to construct an 
approximately 5,600 square foot veterinary clinic at 2999 South 11th St. 

Sec�on(s): Ar�cle 64 – Site Plan Review 
 Ar�cle 65 – Special Uses 

 

PROJECT SUMMARY: 

The applicant, Hansen Building and Design 
Corpora�on, on behalf of Dr. Laura Billings, is 
reques�ng site plan and special use approval to 
construct a 5,614 square foot veterinary and 
small animal clinic at 2999 S 11th Street. 
Presently, the 1.24-acre property at 2999 South 
11th Street is vacant and zoned R-3: Residence 
District. The subject property is outlined in red 
on the aerial map to the right.  

2999 South 11th Street is located in the 
southeastern quadrant of the Township, north 
of Parkview Avenue. Neighboring to the north, 
east, and a large por�on (approximately ¾) to 
the south, there are other R-3: Residence 
District proper�es. On the remaining por�on of 
the south, there is an abu�ng property zoned 
R-2: Residence District. Across South 11th Street, 
there is property condi�onally rezoned to the R-
3: Residence District to specifically allow for the 
development of office uses. Veterinary and 
small animal clinics are considered a special 
excep�on use within the R-3: Residence District. 
Any proposed special excep�on use is subject to 
review and approval from the Oshtemo 
Township Planning Commission. 

N  

17



It should be noted that this proposed site plan is contingent on a variance being approved for the side yard 
setbacks. The Zoning Board of Appeals will be considering the variance request at their regular November 
14th meeting. The applicant’s proposed site plan and this staff report is designed and written assuming the 
requested variance is approved. If the Zoning Board of Appeals does not approve the variance as requested 
the applicant will need to redesign their site plan and this item will be removed from the November 16th 
Planning Commission agenda. The applicant is aware of and accepts this risk. 

ANALYSIS:  

When reviewing this Special Use request, there are two sets of criteria that need to be considered: the 
general Special Use review criteria outlined in Section 65.30 and the general Site Plan review criteria 
outlined in Section 64. The following is an analysis of the proposal against these two Sections.  

Sec�on 65.30 – Special Use Review Criteria 
A. Master Plan/Zoning Ordinance: The proposed use will be consistent with the purpose and intent 

of the Master Plan and Zoning Ordinance, including the district in which the use is located.  
 
The Township’s Future Land Use Plan 
categorizes this site, outlined in yellow to the 
right, as Transitional Office. The intent of the 
Transitional Office land use designa�on is to 
provide primarily office and ins�tu�onal uses.  
 
The Desired Future Development Patern 
outlined in the Master Plan are: 

• Office, ins�tu�onal, and/or medium 
density residen�al located in well-
planned developments. 

• Protec�on of the exis�ng character of 
the area in which it is located through 
design, layout, and opera�on. 

• Incorpora�on of access management 
standards. 

• Successful buffers and/or transi�ons 
between adjacent land uses. 

 
This property is currently zoned R-3: 
Residence District. Veterinary and small 
animal clinic uses are special uses within the R-3: Residence District and are permissible with 
Special Use approval by the Planning Commission. The proposed land use is consistent with the 
Future Land Use Map designa�on and the Township’s Zoning Ordinance. 
 

B. Site Plan Review: The Site Plan Review Criteria of Sec�on 64 
A site plan has been provided. See evalua�on under Sec�on 64: Site Plan Review. 
 

C. Impacts: 
1. The proposed use would be compa�ble, harmonious, and appropriate with the 

exis�ng or planned character and uses of adjacent proper�es.  

Future Land Use Map Excerpt 

Transi�onal 
Office 

N 

18



For a number of decades this por�on of South 11th St has been transi�oning from single-
family homes to non-residen�al uses. To the east is a church, to the north is another 
church, a medical office building, a hair salon, and a handful of office buildings. Further 
north can be found a hotel and conven�on center and a sizeable office complex. A 
similar patern is manifes�ng on the west side of South 11th St, where numerous office 
and medical uses are found, increasing in consistency and intensity approaching Stadium 
Dr. In 2020 this parcel, along with the parcel directly to the north and south, was 
rezoned from R-2 to R-3 with the intent to con�nue the desired land use patern of 
buffering commercial land uses from residen�al in lines with the Township’s future land 
use plan. The rezoning was approved with the knowledge that it would facilitate the 
southward expansion of low intensity non-residen�al uses. The proposed use of a 
veterinary small animal clinic, a special excep�on use within the R-3: Residence District, 
is compa�ble with the proper�es surrounding the site and planned character for the 
area.  
 

2. Poten�ally adverse effects arising from the proposed use on adjacent proper�es would 
be minimized through the provision of adequate parking, the placement of buildings, 
structures, and entrances, as well as the loca�on of screening, fencing, landscaping, 
buffers, or setbacks. 
The proposed building will be located on the rear (or eastern) por�on of the property. 
Adequate landscaping, fencing, screening, and setbacks have been provided, see the Site 
Plan Review sec�on of this staff report. The R-3 district was designed as a “transi�onal 
zoning classifica�on to permit residen�al development together with other facili�es that 
do not generate large volumes of traffic, traffic conges�on and parking problems, and 
are designed so as to be compa�ble with surrounding residen�al uses” (Sec�on 8.10 
Statement of Purpose). The proposed use of a Veterinary and small animal clinic has 
been iden�fied as a special use within this district. As long as the condi�ons outlined in 
the ordinance area met, Staff does not foresee a significant impact of the proposed use 
on neighboring proper�es. 
 

3. The proposed use would not be detrimental, hazardous, or disturbing to exis�ng or 
future adjacent uses or to the public welfare by reason of excessive traffic, noise, 
smoke, odors, glare, or visual cluter. 
See evalua�on above. Staff an�cipates that the proposed project will not generate such 
nega�ve impacts on adjacent proper�es. Ligh�ng on-site is proposed to be “off” during 
non-opera�onal hours (10:00 pm to 6:00 am). Two hydrants also have been provided for 
fire safety. 
  

D. Environment: The natural features of the subject property shall only be cleared or altered to 
the extent necessary to accommodate site design elements, par�cularly where the natural 
features assist in preserving the general character of the area. 
The site is currently undeveloped. Trees will only be removed to facilitate the development of 
the property. The proposed percentage of open space on this site is approximately 63%. 
 

E. Public Facili�es: Adequate public and/or private infrastructure and services already exist or 
would be provided, and will safeguard the health, safety, and general welfare of the public. 
Public water and sewer are available at 2999 S 11th Street. Regarding the transporta�on network, 
the intersec�on to the north at Stadium and South 11th Street is well controlled by a traffic signal. 

19



The intersec�on to the south where S 11th Street crosses Parkview Avenue is also controlled by a 
traffic signal.  The drive into the site has received preapproval from the Kalamazoo County Road 
Commission and is spaced a safe distance from Crystal Lane. It should be noted that as part of 
their design the applicant is proposing to permit shared access for both the property to the north 
and south, if they were ever to develop as a nonresiden�al use. This shared access meets the 
Townships access management plan and follows best prac�ces. If the Special Use request is 
granted, it will not nega�vely affect the area as the proposed use is not an�cipated to generate 
noise, pollu�on, traffic, smoke, or odors aside from the construc�on of the 5,614 SF building. 
Impacts from this proposed use would not exceed the impacts of the nearby uses, such as the 
Heritage Chris�an Reformed Church. 
 
The Township’s Non-Motorized Transporta�on Plan does iden�fy a 6 Ft wide Shared Use Path 
adjacent to the subject site on the east side of S 11th Street which the applicant has provided. Bike 
lanes have already been established in both northbound and southbound direc�ons in this por�on 
of S 11th Street. 
 

F. Special Use Requirements: The Special Use development requirements of Ar�cle 49. 
See evalua�on under Sec�on 49.280. 

 
Sec�on 49.280: Veterinary, Small Animal Clinic 

A. No outside facili�es or runs shall be permited. 
The applicant has noted that all runs are proposed indoors, as indicated in the applicant’s leter 
of intent and shown on the provided floor plan.  

B. Subject to the condi�ons and limita�ons set forth in Sec�on 49.180. 
These condi�ons and limita�ons are outlined below. 

49.180 OFFICE BUILDINGS 
a. Shall include medical clinics and doctor's offices for the treatment of human 

beings. 
Not applicable.  

b. No such building shall be more than 25 feet in height. 
The building is proposed to be 25 feet in height. 

c. No such building shall be larger than 10,000 square feet in area. 
The building is proposed to be 5,614 square feet in area. 

d. The total area of all such buildings shall not occupy more than 30 percent of 
the ground area of the lot, parcel or building site on which they are located. 
The building is proposed to cover 9.2% of the property. 

e. No retail ac�vity shall be carried on nor stock of goods maintained for sale 
upon the premises. 
No retail ac�vity is indicated by the applicants or an�cipated through the 
proposed use. 

f. The minimum setback distance between any building and any rear or interior 
side property line shall be 20 feet or the height of the abu�ng side of the 
building at its highest point as measured from the grade of the property line, 
whichever is greater and shall be subject to Sec�on 50.60, where applicable. 
The proposed building is 25 feet tall. A setback of about 26 feet is proposed. It 
should be noted that the Township Ordinance requires a larger setback distance 
as the subject site is abu�ng proper�es with single-family homes per Sec�on 
50.70.E. However, the applicant has submited a variance request which will be 

20



considered by the Zoning Board of Appeals at their November 14th mee�ng. This 
involves reques�ng relief from this enhanced setback. As noted earlier in this 
report, this evalua�on is being completed based on the condi�on of the 
variance being approved.   

g. Required off-street parking shall be maintained upon the premises but shall be 
prohibited in the required front and side setback areas set forth in Sec�on 
50.60. 
Requirement met.  

h. Access to and from the premises by motor vehicles shall be designed to 
accommodate forward movement in each case and no vehicles shall be 
permited to back into the abu�ng private or public street. 
No access around the site is proposed to allow motor vehicles to back into the 
abu�ng street.  

i. Any outdoor ligh�ng shall be subdued in character and shall be reduced in 
intensity or eliminated during non-business hours. All such ligh�ng shall 
comply with Sec�ons 54.10 through 54.30. 
The applicant has submited a ligh�ng plan that meets the Township’s ligh�ng 
ordinance. Ligh�ng is indicated to be “off” during non-opera�onal hours (10:00 
pm to 6:00 am), shown on page C1 of the site plan. 

j. Landscaping shall be provided in accordance with Ar�cle 53. 
A landscaping plan was provided. Landscaping requirements will be discussed 
under Ar�cle 64 – General Site Plan Review.  

k. The Planning Commission shall have the right and authority to impose 
addi�onal restric�ons and condi�ons as may be necessary for the protec�on 
of the health, safety, and welfare of adjoining property owners and to ensure 
that any noise, odors, traffic, or other incidental ac�vi�es incident thereto 
have a minimum impact upon the neighborhood in which the same is located, 
including but not limited to hours of opera�on. 

 
Ar�cle 64 – General Site Plan Review 
General Zoning Compliance  
Zoning: The subject site is zoned R-3: Residence District and the proposed use is a permited special use 
within the R-3 district.  As detailed in the other sec�ons of this staff report, general zoning requirements 
have been met. A snapshot of the proposed site plan is provided below.  

 

21



Parcel Dimensions: This property dimensions for this site are legal non-conforming. The site under 
considera�on is approximately 1.24 acres and has 119 feet of frontage on South 11th Street. The zoning 
ordinance requires that all parcels within the R-3 district have a minimum property area of 50,000 SF and 
minimum frontage of 200 feet. The parcel meets area requirements but not frontage requirements.   

Setbacks: The ordinance requires a 70-foot front yard setback from the street right-of-way on 11th Street. 
The proposed building is over 200 feet away from the street right-of-way. Ordinarily, the minimum 
setback distance required between any building and any rear or interior side property line is 20 feet or 
the height of the building, whichever is greater. The building is proposed to be 25 feet tall and setback 
approximately 26 feet from the side property lines and is over 88 feet from the rear property line. 

As previously noted, the Township Ordinance requires a larger side yard setback distance (50 feet) as the 
subject site abuts proper�es with single-family homes per Sec�on 50.70.E. However, the applicant has 
submited a variance request which will be considered by the Zoning Board of Appeals at their 
November 14th mee�ng. This involves reques�ng relief from this enhanced setback. As noted earlier in 
this report, this evalua�on is being completed based on the condi�on of the variance being approved.  

Access and Circula�on 

Access: The applicants have proposed an access point from South 11th Street in the center of the 
property. This loca�on has been preliminarily approved by the Kalamazoo County Road Commission. A 
formal approval and permit from the Kalamazoo County Road Commission will need to be submited for 
this access point prior to building permit issuance. Circula�on aisles within the proposed site are 
approximately 24 feet wide and have safe turning radii, with a 26-foot entrance width from South 11th 
Street. There are also proposed cross access points to the north and to the south. The cross-access 
easements for both the owner to the north and south should be submited and ul�mately recorded for 
these cross-access points to be recognized and enforceable in the future. The proposed cross access is in 
line with the Township’s access management plan and best prac�ces. Oshtemo’s Fire Marshal reviewed 
the proposed layout and has no concerns in terms of access and circula�on. It should be noted that all 
driveways will need to be reviewed and approved by the Road Commission of Kalamazoo County.  

Parking: The proposed structure on this site will be a veterinary/small animal clinic. Sec�on 52.100 of 
the Zoning Ordinance s�pulates that uses of this nature require 1 parking space per each 150 square feet 
of net floor area excluding boarding areas. A 5,614 SF building with 4,322 usable floor area is proposed. 
As such, 29 parking spaces are required. The proposed site plan provides a total of 29 parking spaces, 
two of which are ADA. All parking requirements have been met.  

Shared Use Path: The Township’s Non-Motorized Transporta�on Plan does iden�fy a 6-foot wide Shared 
Use Path along the frontage of this property along South 11th Street. The applicant has shown this path 
on their plan, along with ramps and detectable warning plates on both sides of the driveway and will be 
coordina�ng its design and installa�on with the Township’s Public Works Department. 

Internal Sidewalk Network: Per Sec�on 57.90 of the Ordinance, an internal sidewalk network is required. 
The proposed site plan has a sidewalk on the southern side of the site abu�ng parking and includes a 
connec�on from the building to the proposed sidewalk network on South 11th Street. It should be noted 
that the Township Engineering noted the presence of a 1:3 slope on the southern por�on of the 
property directly adjacent to the internal sidewalk network which could pose as a  safety issue for those 
using the sidewalk and from the ADA accessible spots. Media�on is highly recommended.  

 
 

22



Building Design 
Building Information: The proposed 5,614 SF building will have a height of 25 feet. The proposed trash 
loca�on is to the southeast of the building but will be u�lized by herby curbies rather than a tradi�onal 
dumpster. The applicant has provided eleva�ons, the image of the front eleva�on is provided below. The 
exterior material for the proposed building is board and baten siding, stone sill and stone veneer 
accen�ng, and wood fascia and dimensional shingle roofing. It should be noted that the eleva�ons do 
not include color. Updated eleva�on drawings including this detail will be required. 

 

Fencing: No fencing is being proposed on the site plan.  

Lighting: A ligh�ng and photometric plan has been provided. All ligh�ng ordinance requirements have 
been met. 

Signs: The applicant is proposing one monument sign near the northwest corner of the property, near 
the entrance. All signage shall be reviewed separately by Township Staff through the Township’s sign 
permit applica�on process a�er site plan approval. The loca�on of the sign is sa�sfactory. 

Landscaping 
A landscaping plan has been submited and reviewed by Oshtemo Township’s consultant Wightman. The 
following comments were provided: 

A. The plan requires 44 shrubs (1.5 shrubs per 1 parking space; 29 parking spaces = 44 shrubs 
required), only 34 shrubs are provided. Please provide an addi�onal 10 shrubs according to 
Sec�on 53.60-C.  

B. Confirm that trees are not planted on water, gas and/or fiber line(s).  
C. The landscape plan needs to be stamped by a registered landscape architect according to 

Sec�on 53.30-B2. This is required because screening is required between non-residen�al uses 
and residen�al zoned proper�es. 

 
Addi�onally, the applicants provided a leter of intent in accordance with Sec�on 53.160 reques�ng that 
the Township Staff allow a devia�on from the requirements in Sec�on 53.40.B that states that screening 
between land uses shall be a minimum of 30 feet in width. The applicants requested a devia�on to 
reduce the buffering requirement to a width of 25 feet. The applicants’ reasoning for this request is 
summarized below as well as the full leter to the Planning Commission atached.  

The property in ques�on will support a modest-sized professional building, but due to the 
greenspace requirement, is unable to accommodate adequate, double load parking as well as 

23



the mandatory fire truck turn around area. If approved, Dr. Billings proposes to provide heavy 
evergreen screening on both the north and south sides of her property.  

Staff finds the requested devia�on appropriate given the site’s width and the addi�onal provided 
landscape buffering on the north, south, and east property lines. 

Landscaping between uses: If the variance is approved by the Zoning Board of Appeals, it will most likely 
have a condi�on that the Planning Commission should consider addi�onal landscape buffering between 
the neighboring proper�es with single-family homes. This would mean increased buffering from the 
north, south, and west property lines. To help with this discussion staff provides the following 
evalua�on: 

• Total property depth is 455 feet (property line starts at the center of the road; roughly 33 feet 
within ROW). Side yard buffering would start roughly behind the required street right-of-way 
greenbelt (20 feet wide). Leaves a depth of 402 feet that needs screening. 

• Ordinance requires 6 evergreen trees for every 100 feet. This means that 24.12 trees are 
required along the side property lines. 30 evergreens (white spruce) are proposed along the 
north property line. 31 evergreens (white spruce) are proposed along the south property line. 
Property width is 119 feet. 7.14 trees are needed along the rear property line. 10 evergreens 
(white spruce) are proposed along the rear. Overall, about 12 evergreens are proposed per 100 
feet.  

• The proposed evergreens will be 8’ tall when planted. This exceeds the minimum 6’ tall opaque 
visual barrier requirement of the ordinance. 

• For reference, type F landscaping from the previous landscaping ordinance requires for every 
100 feet: 6 evergreens, 18 shrubs. 2 understory trees and 4 canopy trees (ordinance allows 
evergreens to replace other trees 1:1). 

Overall, the proposed number of trees exceeds current ordinance standards for buffering between 
uses. In addi�on, the proposed buffering, aside from the shrubs, aligns the ordinances previous type 
F landscaping requirements which was designed to provide enhanced screening between uses.  

Engineering 
Grading, stormwater, and u�lity plans have been submited and reviewed by Oshtemo Township’s 
consultant Wightman. The following comments pertaining to stormwater management and grading were 
provided: 

Stormwater Management 
a. The storm water calcula�ons have been updated and indicate there are two dis�nct 
stormwater zones with two different areas for reten�on (Zone A & B). Please address the 
following: 

i. Remove the old stormwater calcula�ons from sheet C6. 
ii. The roof water iden�fied in Zone B should be added to the storm water in Zone A as 
the stormwater summary indicates this roof water is being conveyed into CB #3. 
iii. The volume of the proposed stormwater reten�on pond proposed to accommodate 
the design for Zone B indicates 261 c� of storage and the stormwater calcula�ons 
indicate the volume of stormwater flowing into the pond as 1,415 c�. Please revise the 
reten�on pond for Zone B. 
iv. Iden�fy the overland flow route for reten�on pond “B” in the event of an extreme 
rain event to ensure no adverse impacts offsite or internal to the site. 

24



b. Provide stormwater calcula�ons which show the post development discharge from the site 
does not exceed the exis�ng discharge rate. Also, verify the post development discharge doesn’t 
cause adverse impact to offsite property due to ponded water of greater height, area, and 
dura�on. 
c. Provide soil boring in area of the underground reten�on area to verify adequate soils and the 
botom of the reten�on stone meets the required minimum depth of 4 feet to groundwater. 
d. Iden�fy the emergency overflow for the underground reten�on area. The current plan 
indicates that with an extreme rain event the stormwater will pond in the parking lot to the 
941.00 eleva�on and then overflow toward and pond onto the adjacent proper�es to the north 
and south. 
e. The storm water summary iden�fies a 6” roof drain will be connected to CB #3. Please show 
the 6” roof drain on the plans. 

 
Grading 

a. Appears to be a drainage/ponding issue on the north and south property lines. The proposed 
grading indicates ponding will occur on the neighboring proper�es with each rain event. Please 
iden�fy there are no off-site impacts which result from the required design storm event.  
b. The revised grading plan shows contour eleva�ons at the southeast corner of the proposed 
building that seem to be unbuildable. Please revise the grading in this area or indicate a 
retaining wall. 
c. The revised grading plan appears to have incorrect spot eleva�ons in the vicinity of the 
proposed concrete pa�o east of the proposed building. Please verify. 

 

Fire Department 

The Township Fire Marshal is satisfied with the overall design of the site. Two fire hydrants are required 
to be placed on-site. The subject fire hydrants have been provided in the site plan.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Planning Department staff recommend that the Planning Commission approve the proposed Special Use 
and Site Plan at 2999 South 11th Street to the Township Board with the following condi�ons: 

1. Approval subject to the side yard setback variance being approved by the Zoning Board of 
Appeals.  

a. Planning Commission to add any other condi�ons per direc�on of the Zoning Board of 
Appeals. 

2. Planning Commission to grant a deviation from the requirements in Section 53.40 that states 
that screening between land uses shall be a minimum of 30 feet in width to allow a 25-foot 
landscaping buffer. 

3. Cross-access easements to be submited and recorded with the City of Kalamazoo and Oshtemo 
Township.  

4. Approved driveway permit from the Road Commission of Kalamazoo County will need to be 
submitted prior to building permit issuance. 

5. All signage shall be reviewed separately by staff through the Township’s sign permit applica�on 
process.  

6. A 20’ wide city water easement is provided and will need to be recorded and submited to the 
City of Kalamazoo and Oshtemo Township. 

25



7. Sidewalk connec�ons shall be coordinated with the Oshtemo Township Public Works 
department and installed prior to occupancy. 

8. The installa�on of all u�li�es shall be coordinated with the appropriate corresponding agency. 
9. An updated landscaping plan is submited mee�ng the following: 

a. The plan requires 44 shrubs (1.5 shrubs per 1 parking space; 29 parking spaces = 44 
shrubs required), only 34 shrubs are provided. Please provide an addi�onal 10 shrubs 
according to Sec�on 53.60-C.  

b. Confirm that trees are not planted on water, gas and/or fiber line(s).  
c. The landscape plan needs to be stamped by a registered landscape architect according 

to Sec�on 53.30-B2. This is required because screening is required between non-
residen�al uses and residen�al zoned proper�es. 

10. Site plan shall be resubmited mee�ng the following engineering requirements: 
a. The storm water calcula�ons have been updated and indicate there are two dis�nct 

stormwater zones with two different areas for reten�on (Zone A & B). Please address 
the following: 

i. Remove the old stormwater calcula�ons from sheet C6. 
ii. The roof water iden�fied in Zone B should be added to the storm water in Zone 

A as the stormwater summary indicates this roof water is being conveyed into 
CB #3. 

iii. The volume of the proposed stormwater reten�on pond proposed to 
accommodate the design for Zone B indicates 261 c� of storage and the 
stormwater calcula�ons indicate the volume of stormwater flowing into the 
pond as 1,415 c�. Please revise the reten�on pond for Zone B. 

iv. iv. Iden�fy the overland flow route for reten�on pond “B” in the event of an 
extreme rain event to ensure no adverse impacts offsite or internal to the site. 

b. Provide stormwater calcula�ons which show the post development discharge from the 
site does not exceed the exis�ng discharge rate. Also, verify the post development 
discharge doesn’t cause adverse impact to offsite property due to ponded water of 
greater height, area, and dura�on. 

c. Provide soil boring in area of the underground reten�on area to verify adequate soils 
and the botom of the reten�on stone meets the required minimum depth of 4 feet to 
groundwater. 

d. Iden�fy the emergency overflow for the underground reten�on area. The current plan 
indicates that with an extreme rain event the stormwater will pond in the parking lot to 
the 941.00 eleva�on and then overflow toward and pond onto the adjacent proper�es 
to the north and south. 

e. The storm water summary iden�fies a 6” roof drain will be connected to CB #3. Please 
show the 6” roof drain on the plans. 

f. Iden�fy there are no off-site impacts which result from the required design storm event. 
g. The revised grading plan shows contour eleva�ons at the southeast corner of the 

proposed building that seem to be unbuildable. Please revise the grading in this area or 
indicate a retaining wall. 

h. The revised grading plan appears to have incorrect spot eleva�ons in the vicinity of the 
proposed concrete pa�o east of the proposed building. Please verify. 

 
Atachments: Applica�on, Site Plan, Exterior Eleva�ons, Applicant’s Leter of Intent 

26



ul
J
)

Address: 3027 WOODHAMS AVENUE

PORTAGE. MICHIGAN 49002

E-mail. wwrhansen@aol.cdn

Teleph6ns' 269-59H212 Fax: N/A

Interest in Property .OEVELOPER

OWNER*:

Name. WAYBRTDGE LLC

Ad&ess. 7049 TURKEY GLEN

KALAMAZOO. I\.'ICH IGAN 49009

E-mail. waym@bronsonhg.org

Phone & Fax: 269.599-4503

NATURE OF THE REQUEST: (Please check the appropriate item(s))

_ Pre-Application Review

_ Site Plan Review - 1088

_ Adminisfative Site Plan Review - 1086
x Special Exception Use - 1085

_ Zoning Variance - 1092
Site Condominium - 1084

7275 W. Majn Street, Kalamazoo, Michigan 49009-9334
Phone: 269-3754260 Fax: 269-37 5-7180shtemo

\ CHAPTER TOWNSHIP
. Established'1819 PI- }-.\ST- PRI\T

PROJECT NAME & ADDRESS FRIENDSHIP ANIMAL HOSPITAL. 2999 S. 11TH STREET

PLANNING & ZONING APPLICATION

App licant Namc: WALTER R. HANSEN, PRESIDENT

Company . HANSEN BUILDING AND DESIGN CORPORATION

THIS
SPACE

FOR
TOV',NSHIP

USE

ONLY

Fee Am0unt 52,093.75

Escrow Amou $1.000.00

_ Accessory Building Review - 1083

_ Rezoning - I09l
_ Subdivision Plat Review - 1089

_ Interpretation - 1082

Other:

BRIEFLY DESCRJBE YOUR REQUEST (Use Anacluncnts if Ncccssary)

APPROVAL OF A NEW VETERINARY CLINIC TO BE EUILT AT 2999 S. 11TH STREET

Rev.9 /t+l?2

)
?hfr,

'r(r.

I

27



LEG.\1. DliSCIalP'l lON OF PlloPltll'l \'1t-ire ,\tlae httrrrtts il Neccssar r l

SEE ATTACHED

t,,\lt( Et. Ntilttll,-tt:,re05- 25-455-024

,\Dt)t.tass ot; ppoplitt t'\': 2999 S. 1 1TH STREET

ptlEstlNT trsti oF t'tttl pRop[]R't-\': VACANT LAND

PRESENT?,ONING: R-3 stzE oF PRO|,ERTY: 120X452.6

NAT,IE(S) & ADI)RESS(ES) OF AI,L oTFIEII PIiRSONS, CORPORATIONS. OR IiIRi\-IS IIi\\/IN(;
.\ t.EC.\1. OR EQtrl'Ir\Bl.ii l\l'liRIiS'l'l\ 1'llE PR()PERT\':

(purchaser 630-432-5402)

s1G,\:J r{.,7?/t.S

I (\ry) th\' ttttr/crrlgitt'r/ t'rrtil\' tlrut tha inlinnulitttt <<trtluin'rl o this .rpplit tlin .lotltt ! d lli:.'
rt1tintl lrrulll,tts elluclt.t(l llo ttkt utc to lhr best ol rtt.v (ou knon'ledge lrue unl utuu'ulc.
I htel ocknottlulg! tlfttt ,l.'c h ve raccit't'tl tlrc Totntship'.r l)istluiuer Rcgurrling Sct'er and ll'alt
ltli'ttstru.luro. B.r.whmitting tlti.t Plunting & Zoning.4pplit'alio,t. I (trc) gt'.r|t pernis.^iort .lirr
Oshtcntt 7\ntnship olliriuls uni q3ltls to cnla' tht nrllact pn4tr'tlt' ol lhc altltliuttirttt as ptrt ol
rrrrrrlr/rIirt.{ l/r( r('t'irnfs {11,\s{rr'\'kr /r'(r( ('s\ thr qtplittttitttt

l{ anrr(s)

AUS ENTERPRISE LLC

rld d lrss(rs)

6058 S. 12TH STRE€T, KAL,MI 49009

i'ytrJ

*rll*
pl.D.\sli A'l't .\c lt ..\t_t. lrF_QUIluiD l)ocli\tEN'I'S

A.

o ner's Sigtrature (sl.l dillat':ttt li1'ttt Apltlicurtr) Datc

*
,\pplicarrl's n:rt $ r'€ Date

.\tlpl(imr - I
( t(Yk I

l).!{r\(l,rlr- |

l'l$xnn! 5d.r!'till! I nErN

.rJJrs,-s|NI n \Ip,r,rIl\lrl ll,Fanrrrrltl\

n*.e/tal22

eb,AJ-

28



©

EXISTING SITE PLAN
NORTH

SCALE: 1"= 20'

SITE DATA

SPECIAL NOTE:

NORTH

29



©

DEMOLITION PLAN
NORTH

SCALE: 1"= 20'

GENERAL NOTES

SILT FENCE JOINT

SESC INLET FILTER

SILT FENCE DETAIL

30



©

DEMOLITION PLAN
NORTH

SCALE: 1"= 20'

DEMOLITION LEGEND
DEMOLITION NOTES

GENERAL NOTES

TYP. TREE PROTECTION

31



©

LAYOUT PLAN

NORTH

SCALE: 1"= 20'

LAYOUT NOTES

GENERAL NOTES

STANDARD PAVING DETAIL

BARRIER FREE PARKING SIGNS

CURB & GUTTER

NOT TO SCALE

TYPICAL CATCH BASIN (C.B.)

R.O.W. PAVING DETAIL

KCRC IN R.O.W. PVMT. SPECIFICATION

NOT TO SCALE

AUTO PARKING STRIPING

32



©

STORMWATER
NORTH

SCALE: 1"= 20'

GRADING PLAN
NORTH

SCALE: 1"= 20'

33



©

STORMWATER
NORTH

SCALE: 1"= 20'

GENERAL NOTES

STORMWATER CHAMBERS

STORM WATER DESIGN CRITERIA

ZONE 'B'

34



©

UTILITY PLAN

NORTH

SCALE: 1"= 20'

FIRE HYDRANT DETAIL
SCALE: N.T.S.

UTILITY SERVICES

SANITARY SEWER CLEANOUT
SCALE: NO SCALE

35



©

TREE PLANTING SCHEDULE

SIZELATIN NAME COMMON NAME CONTAINER TYPE COMMENTSQTY

LANDSCAPING NOTES

SHRUB PLANTING

CONIFEROUS TREE

PLANTING DETAIL

DETAIL

DECIDUOUS TREE

PLANTING DETAIL

TREE PLANTING

ON SLOPE

STONE DRIP SURROUND

RETAINING WALL DETAIL

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS

36



37



MEZZ. FLOOR PLAN
SCALE: 1/4"= 1'-0"

NORTH

FLOOR PLAN
SCALE: 1/4"= 1'-0"

NORTH

38



WEST ELEVATION
SCALE: 3/16"= 1'-0"

NORTH ELEVATION
SCALE: 3/16"= 1'-0"

SOUTH ELEVATION
SCALE: 3/16"= 1'-0"

EAST ELEVATION
SCALE: 3/16"= 1'-0"

39



40



41



This page intentionally left blank

42



 

 

November 9, 2023 
 
Mtg Date:   November 16, 2023 
 

To:  Planning Commission  
 

From:  Iris Lubbert, AICP, Planning Director 
 

Subject: Work Session – Private Street Ordinance 
 

 
 
Suzanne Schulz, a representative from Progressive AE, will present a updated draft of the Private Street 
Ordinance to the Planning Commission at their regular November 16th meeting.  
 

43



This page intentionally left blank 

44



 

 

October 5, 2023 
 
Mtg Date:   November 16, 2023 
 

To:  Planning Commission  
 

From:  Iris Lubbert, AICP, Planning Director 
 

Subject: Continued Discussion: MU District 
 

 
Comments and text suggestions have been received from the Michigan Department of Transportation, the 
Kalamazoo Area Transportation Study, and the Kalamazoo County Road Commission; their feedback has been 
incorporated into this latest version of the proposed MU district text. For readability, as there were numerous 
changes, the corresponding transportation sections have been highlighted in their entirety. In addition, based 
on Planning Commission feedback, staff has amended the density bonus section of the MU District Ordinance 
to be more objective and have tiers. The newly proposed density bonus section and other small, 
recommended tweaks are in red. 
 
The Planning Commission is asked to review the proposed MU District Ordinance language, provide feedback, 
and if deemed appropriate set a public hearing for the formal consideration of the text.   
 
Attachments: DRAFT MU District  

45



 

  
10/4/2023 DRAFT DENSITY BONUS 1 

 

ARTICLE 30 
30 – MU: MIXED USE DISTRICT  
 
Contents: 

30.10 STATEMENT OF PURPOSE  
30.20 ESTABLISHING A MIXED USE DISTRICT 
30.30 DEVELOPING WITHIN A MIXED USE DISTRICT 
 

30.10 STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 
The Mixed Use District is established for the purposes of implementing Oshtemo Township’s adopted 
Sub Area Plans and encouraging a mix of uses in the planned redevelopment of existing commercial 
areas into mixed use. The Mixed Use District designation is designed to accommodate, through 
comprehensive planning, zoning, and project review, integrated residential, commercial, office, 
technology, and public uses on larger parcels of land. The mixed-use district strives to encourage 
innovative development that incorporates high-quality building design, compatibility with adjacent uses, 
preservation of unique environmental features, and the creation of open spaces and amenities that 
enhance the quality of life of residents.  
 
30.20 ESTABLISHING A MIXED-USE DISTRICT  

A. LOCATION AND SIZE CRITERIA  
Mixed Use Districts may be established in areas of the Township with an adopted Sub Area Plan 
or within a C: Local Business District. A minimum contiguous site area of twenty (20) acres shall 
be required.  
The proposal shall show all contiguous holdings of the owner or option purchaser and how it is 
integrated into the overall comprehensive development plan, unless specifically waived by the 
Planning Commission.  
B. DEVELOPMENT OWNERSHIP 
The proposed Mixed-Use District shall be under common ownership or control while being 
constructed, such that there is a unified responsibility for the completion of the project. 
Sufficient documentation of ownership or control, such as a development agreement, shall be 
submitted with the application for approval. Land divisions within the district and property 
transfers may be made once Section 30.30 A, CONDITIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT, is met.  
C. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS 
The owner or option purchaser of a tract of land shall seek approval of a Mixed Use District  
zoning designation with the simultaneous submittal of a comprehensive development plan. The 
comprehensive development plan shall include: 
(1) Plan Area. All contiguous holdings of the owner or option purchaser and how it’s integrated 

into the overall comprehensive development plan, unless specifically waived by the Planning 
Commission.  

(2) Letter of Intent. A letter of intent that includes a full description as to how the proposed 
comprehensive development plan satisfies the eligibility requirements and design principles 
of this Section and, if applicable, evidence of how the proposed plan meets the criteria for 
qualifying for a density bonus. 

46



 

  
10/4/2023 DRAFT DENSITY BONUS 2 

 

(3) Development Schematic Plan. A development schematic plan illustrating the proposed 
streets and the areas designated for residential, commercial, or mixed uses. Potential 
specific uses proposed in each area shall be outlined; see Section 30.30 for a list of uses 
permitted in the district. The development schematic plan shall include the proposed 
acreage for each use category and the proposed residential densities for each identified 
residential and mixed-use area.  

(4) Site Circulation. A circulation and access management plan for the project, including 
proposed street names and phasing (if any for development purposes), proposed non-
motorized connections, and connectivity to the surrounding transportation network.  

i. The arrangement of streets shall provide for a continuation of streets between 
adjoining properties and seek to implement the Master Plan.  

1. Where adjoining property is undeveloped and the street must 
temporarily be a dead-end, the right-of-way shall be extended to 
the property line to make provision for the future projection of the 
street. Additional temporary right-of-way may be required to facilitate 
any temporary cul-de-sacs or turnarounds.  

2. Where a street is not intended to extend beyond the boundaries of the 
district and its continuation is not required for the continuation of 
streets between adjoining properties, its terminus shall be at least 50 
feet from the property line.  

3. A cul-de-sac turnaround shall be provided at the end of a permanent 
dead-end street or a temporary dead end street (and associated 
temporary right-of-way) in accordance with County Road 
Commission standards. 

ii. Interior streets that do not serve as a connecting link between different land 
ownerships or different public roads may be designated private streets subject to 
Township approval.  

1. Both public and private streets shall be designed to the cross-section  
standards of the Road Commission of Kalamazoo County (Appendix E of 
the Construction Guidelines),   

2. Both public and private streets shall meet the best practices of Article 
51: Access Management Guidelines of the Township Zoning Ordinance 
and Township Master Plan.  

3. Reserved for Private Street Design Templates  
iii. Streets shall be laid out in an orthogonal manor to intersect as nearly as possible to 

90 degrees. 
iv. Streets shall be interconnected with each other and with streets on abutting 

properties in a systematic pattern to promote connectivity, accessibility, reliability, 
efficiency, sustainability, safety, and logic for all users, unless otherwise approved by 
the Planning Commission.  

v. Prioritize design and internal circulation to minimize new access points on Arterials 
and Major Collectors and instead channelize traffic flow via adjacent streets or 
service roads to dedicated access points and signalized intersections that function as 
a gateway. This will immensely support the mobility, accessibility and safety of all 
modes of transportation, especially pedestrian and non-motorized transportation. 

47



 

  
10/4/2023 DRAFT DENSITY BONUS 3 

 

1. A permanent dead-end street shall only be permitted where the 
topography of the area, lakes, streams, other natural features or 
existing adjacent development of the area causes practical difficulties or 
extreme hardship in connection, and can be granted without creating 
any safety concerns. A supportive recommendation from the Township 
Engineer shall be required in order to be considered by the Planning 
Commission. Planning Commission’s recommendation shall be 
forwarded for approval to the Township Board. Applicant shall clearly 
provide evidence of hardship to be considered.  

2. Dead end streets in excess of 600 feet are highly discouraged.  
vi. A nonmotorized facility is required along all street frontages in accordance with the 

Township’s Complete Street Policy, unless otherwise approved by the Planning 
Commission.  

(5) Traffic Impact Study (TIS). A complete analysis of traffic generated by the entire development 
and the impact said development would have on the surrounding transportation system. The 
transportation system includes but is not limited to truck routes, emergency routes, State and 
County roads, non-motorized network(s), public transit, etc.  

I. Prior to commencement of the TIS, the Public Works Director or Township designated 
Traffic Engineer, in consultation with Michigan Department of Transportation and 
Road Commission of Kalamazoo County, shall review and approve the limits of the 
study area, level & scope of study, existing volumes, and inputs for forecasted trips 
and volumes which may include other approved and pending developments.  

II. The traffic analysis models shall anticipate the highest proposed use for each 
designated area within the development site plan.  

III. The TIS shall meet requirements of the Road Commission of Kalamazoo County’s and 
Michigan Department of Transportation’s guidelines for Traffic Impact Studies and 
Assessments Evaluating Traffic Impact Studies. Formal approval from other agencies 
shall be provided to the Township prior to the formal Planning Commission MU 
Rezoning Review.  

IV. If the development is at or near a major intersection or interchange, then traffic 
generated for the site should also be shown relative to movements into and/or 
through the intersection or interchange. 

V. Any decline in level of service on adjacent trunkline and local roads shall be 
reasonably mitigated by proposed solutions within the site design and internal 
circulation including reducing access points and channelizing traffic flow to dedicated 
access points via adjacent streets. The level of Service (LOS) is defined as a qualitative 
measure describing operational conditions of vehicular and pedestrian traffic; 
described in terms of such factors as speed and travel time, freedom to maneuver, 
traffic interruptions, comfort and convenience, and safety. Levels of service are given 
letter designations, from A to F, with LOS A representing the best operating conditions 
and LOS F the worst.   

i. A decline in vehicular LOS may be acceptable if improvement(s) to the non-
motorized network is the direct cause and improved pedestrian LOS can be 
shown.  

48



 

  
10/4/2023 DRAFT DENSITY BONUS 4 

 

ii. Required operational changes and/or other mitigation measures shall be part 
of the MDOT and RCKC permit approval process. 

iii. Mitigation efforts may be broken into phases tied directly to the 
corresponding phases of the comprehensive development plan. Phases must 
be clearly outlined within the phasing plan; item 10 within this Section. 
Preliminary designs shall be required. 

iv. If the required traffic improvements identified within the TIS are already 
planned as part of an adopted comprehensive plan to be implemented by 
MDOT, the Kalamazoo County Road Commission, the Kalamazoo Area 
Transportation Study (KATS) or the Township, some or all of the mitigation 
requirements may be deferred or coordinated within a reasonable timeline. 
Any deferments or coordination shall require the support of the Township 
Engineer or representative. Short term or temporary efforts may be required 
to ensure the safety of the public during the deferment period. If the required 
mitigation efforts increase the scope of the already planned improvements 
by the local agency, the increase in cost to modify the plans and construct the 
improvements shall be collected from the applicant. A memorandum of 
understanding shall be executed and recorded. 

v. The Township will work with the developer/applicant in good faith effort to 
seek solutions and approvals necessary. This does not imply any financial 
commitment on the Township’s part. 

(6) Design Standards. The applicant must provide architectural and design standards that 
create a district identity. This shall include specific development standards that will be 
applicable to development within the district including, but not limited to, minimum lot area 
and frontage, architectural character, building materials, building height, lighting, site 
features, and entry monumentation. Street lighting shall be full cut-off design and mounted 
to be parallel to the ground. Design standards proposed by the applicant shall incorporate 
and may go beyond the development requirements in Section 30.30.D. 

(7) Stormwater. Areas for common stormwater detention, those with the intention of serving a 
larger area or multiple facilities, shall be identified on the development schematic plan and 
turned over to the Kalamazoo County Drain Commission Office (unless otherwise agreed to 
by all parties involved) when constructed. Feasibility of site conditions should be considered.   

(8) Residential Density and Density Bonus.   
I. Initial Gross Density.  The overall density within the development schematic plan’s 

residential and mixed use areas shall match the intended character of the 
correlating Sub Area Plan; each density category is defined within Table 30.20.1. A 
comprehensive development plan that is being proposed without a correlating Sub 
Area Plan and is within a C: Local Business District designation shall be considered 
under the high-density residential category. Areas designated purely for commercial 
development may not be included in the overall gross density calculation. 

 
 
 
 

49



 

  
10/4/2023 DRAFT DENSITY BONUS 5 

 

 
 
 

II. Density Bonus. A density bonus, up to the maximum gross density defined within 
Table 30.20.1, shall be granted if the proposed development provides additional 
public benefits to the overall community as outlined below. The bonuses earned 
from each category shall be added together. 

a) Housing – This is intended to promote missing middle housing. A mix of 
housing options are desired.  

1. At least 50% of the dwelling units shall be in buildings with at least 
two (2) dwelling units. (10% density increase) 

2. At least 75% of the dwelling units shall be in buildings with at least 
two (2) dwelling units. (20% density increase) 

3. 100% of the dwelling units shall be in buildings with at least two (2) 
dwelling units. (30% density increase)  

b) Dedication of land for a public park, not less than one acre, and/or land 
for a community building if acceptable to the Township Board. (30% 
density increase).  

c) Dedication of land, not less than one acre, for the purpose of a private 
park that incorporates usable amenities. Acceptable amenities include 
playground equipment, picnic areas with grills and tables, tennis courts, 
baseball diamonds, etc. (10% density increase) 

d) Green Energy – If this density bonus is utilized, the applicant shall 
designate through their design standards the type of buildings within the 
development that will meet these standards.   

1. 50% of the buildings are constructed to LEED Silver Standards or 
50% of the buildings are constructed to Energy Star certified 
standards (15% density increase).  

2. 100% of the buildings are constructed to LEED Silver Standards or 
50% of the buildings are constructed to LEED Gold Standards or the 
entire development receives LEED Neighborhood development 
certification or 75% of the buildings are constructed to Energy Star 
certified standards. (30% density increase). 

e) Open Space  
1. Minimum provided open space is 20% (10% density bonus) 
2. Minimum provided open space is 30% (20% density bonus) 

 

Table 30.20.1 – Residential Density 

Residential 
Character/Density 
Category   

Initial Gross Density  Maximum Gross Density 
with Density Bonus  

Agricultural  1 unit an acre N/A 

Low 4 units an acre N/A 

Medium/Transitional 4 units and acre 8 units an acre 

High 8 units an acre 16 units an acre 

50



 

  
10/4/2023 DRAFT DENSITY BONUS 6 

 

(9) Public Sanitary Sewer and Water. Public sanitary sewer and water shall be required. All 
infrastructure shall be designed to promote the logical extension of public infrastructure. The 
Township may require the extension of public infrastructure, if needed, to reach the 
development. If the area is not ready to be served, at a minimum dry mains for future 
connection shall be installed. A description of existing public infrastructure availability, 
current demands, downstream capacity, projected flows and increased demand feasibility 
needed to serve the project, and a plan for providing needed infrastructure, including 
community facilities. 

(10) Phasing. A developmental procedures agreement that will describe the timing and phasing, if 
applicable, of the project and outline other development details as necessary. 

(11)  Buffer from Adjacent Residentially Zoned Districts. A minimum buffer area consisting of 
open landscaped green space shall be established at the perimeter of the development site 
adjacent to existing residentially zoned districts. No structures, roads, or parking areas shall 
be permitted within said buffer area.  

I. The width of the buffer area shall be determined by the character of the area 
proposed within the Development Schematic Plan directly adjacent to existing 
residentially zoned district.  

i. The buffer shall be fifty (50) feet where the proposed area within the 
Development Schematic Plan is identified for purely residential 
development.  This width shall be increased by one foot for each foot in 
height in excess of 25 feet of the proposed building heights for this area, as 
outlined in the design standards. 

ii. The buffer shall be eighty-five (85) feet where the proposed area within the 
Development Schematic Plan is for mixed use or commercial development. 
This width shall be increased by one foot for each foot in height in excess of 
25 feet of the proposed building heights for this area, as outlined in the 
design standards. 

iii. The buffering requirement shall be waived if traditional single-family 
detached and/or attached residential uses compatible in height and bulk 
with the abutting uses are established along the perimeter adjacent to the 
existing residential district. 

II. An alternative buffering tool may be proposed to the Planning Commission to 
consider; the applicant shall demonstrate that the requested alternative is just as, if 
not more, effective than the required buffering.  

III. The buffer may include a nonmotorized trail. This trail shall be public, constructed to 
meet ADA standards, and maintain a minimum setback of fifty (50) feet from the 
property line. 

(12) Natural features. The development shall be designed to promote the preservation of 
natural features. 

(13) Open Space. 15% of the of the development schematic plan shall be designated as open space 
subject to the following standards: 

I. Any required buffering or right-of-way shall not be used to meet the open space 
requirement.  

II. Any significant/sensitive environmental resources (steep slopes, wetlands, 
woodlands, etc.) shall be included within the designated open space where possible.  

51



 

  
10/4/2023 DRAFT DENSITY BONUS 7 

 

III. Stormwater management facilities shall not be used to meet the open space 
requirement unless privately owned and designed as useable common open space, 
see below. 

IV. Usable Open Space. A minimum of 50% of the total open space must be designated 
as useable common open space which incorporates usable amenities to stimulate 
social interaction and recreational activity:  

a) The common useable opens space shall be easily accessible to residents, 
including visual and pedestrian linkages and proximity to such open spaces. 

b) Private parks shall be subject to the conditions and limitations set forth in 
Section 49.100 of this Ordinance. A density bonus may be applicable; see 
Section 30.20.C.8 for details.  

c) If a designated usable common open space area is eligible to become a 
public park to be transferred to Oshtemo Township to design, build, and 
maintain, subject to the review and approval of the Parks Committee, a 
density bonus would be applicable; see Section 30.20.C.8 for details. 

V. Open space not designated as usable common open space shall be retained in an 
essentially undeveloped or unimproved state except for necessary site grading. 

VI. All designated open space areas shall initially be under common ownership or control, 
such that there is a single entity having proprietary responsibility. Sufficient 
documentation of ownership or control in the form of agreements, contracts, 
covenants, and/or deed restrictions shall be provided. Changes or transfers in 
ownership or control of the open space, sections thereof, shall be subject to review 
and approval of the Township. Open spaces shall always be under the control of a 
designated entity. 

VII. All designated open space areas shall be set aside through an irrevocable conveyance 
approved by the Planning Commission as part of final site plan approval, such as 
recorded deed restrictions, master deed, covenants that run perpetually with the 
land, a conservation easement of land trusts. 

D. APPLICATION REVIEW  
Said review shall evaluate whether the proposed comprehensive development plan conforms to 
the standards and recommendations of the correlating Sub Area Plan, Master Plan, rezoning 
principles, recognized principles of civic design, land use planning, landscape architecture, and 
building architectural design. Submissions shall be subject to the Township’s Development 
Schedule of Applications and adopted fee schedule. 
1) Optional pre-application review(s). Informal pre-application review(s) by Township Staff is 

encouraged.  
2) Planning Commission Concept Plan Review. A draft Development Schematic Plan shall 

undergo a mandatory conceptual plan review by the Planning Commission. The application 
for approval of a concept plan shall be made according to the procedures for Special Uses set 
forth in Section 65.40. The review is intended to provide an indication of the issues and 
concerns that must be resolved prior to review of the rezoning request by the Planning 
Commission. Conceptual plan approval shall not constitute an approval of the Development 
Schematic Plan but rather shall be deemed an expression of approval of the general layout 
and as a guide to the preparation of a final plan. A conceptional plan approval from the 
Planning Commission becomes invalid if the required Traffic Impact Study requires significant 

52

http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-viewer.aspx?ajax=0&tocid=003.035.010
https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-viewer.aspx#secid-2389


 

  
10/4/2023 DRAFT DENSITY BONUS 8 

 

changes to the Development Schematic Plan. Request for modification to the approved draft 
Development Schematic Plan shall be submitted to the Planning Commission for review in the 
same manner as the original. Following recommendation from the Planning Commission, 
elements of the conceptual plan requiring Township Board action as outlined in the ordinance 
may be forwarded to the Township Board, per applicant request, for initial consideration and 
feedback. 

3) Planning Commission MU Rezoning Review. Following concept plan review and approval, a 
full MU rezoning request may be submitted. The Planning Commission, after public hearing 
and consideration, may recommend approval, approval with recommended changes, or 
denial of the rezoning and Comprehensive Development Plan. The Township may consider, 
but shall not be limited to, the factors for rezoning set forth in this Ordinance, future land use 
recommendations in the Master Land Use Plan; goals and objectives of the Sub Area Plan; the 
availability and capacity of utilities; potential positive and negative impacts on neighboring 
land uses, potential impact on the natural environment; and other concerns and benefits 
related to the general welfare, safety, and health of area residents. 

4) Township Board Review. After receipt of the Planning Commission's recommendation, the 
Township Board shall deliberate upon the requested rezoning and may approve or deny the 
rezoning request. The Township Board's deliberations shall include, but not be limited to, a 
consideration of the factors for rezoning set forth in this Ordinance. Should the Township 
Board consider amendments to the proposed rezoning or comprehensive development plan 
advisable, then the Township Board shall, in accordance with Section 405 of the Michigan 
Zoning Enabling Act (MCL 125.3405), refer such amendments to the Planning Commission for 
a report thereof within a time specified by the Township Board and proceed thereafter in 
accordance with said statute to deny or approve the rezoning with or without amendments. 
The Township may consider, but shall not be limited to, future land use recommendations in 
the Master Land Use Plan; goals and objectives in the Sub Area Plan; the availability and 
capacity of utilities; potential impact on neighboring land uses and the natural environment; 
and other concerns related to the general welfare, safety and health of area residents. 

E. AMENDMENTS TO THE COMPREHENSIVE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
All changes, modifications, revisions, and amendments made to the comprehensive development 
plan shall be resubmitted and considered in the same manner as originally required.  
To optimize design, additional interior roads may be added to serve the development areas 
identified within the development schematic plan during the development of that area without 
an amendment to the comprehensive development plan. 
 

30.30 DEVELOPING WITHIN THE MIXED USE DISTRICT 
A. CONDITIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT 

Unless specifically outlined in a phasing plan approved with the comprehensive development 
plan, all public infrastructure including, shared detention basin areas, streets, street lighting, 
useable common open spaces, and non-motorized facilities, shall be installed prior to any 
development. All private streets shall be located in a 66-foot right-of-way with an easement 
granted to the Township for public utilities and nonmotorized facilities. The Township shall have 
no obligation or liability for the private street or maintenance thereof by virtue of the easement. 
 

53



 

  
10/4/2023 DRAFT DENSITY BONUS 9 

 

In addition, prior to the submission of the first site plan application within the MU district, the 
development ownership of the district shall establish a Design Committee. The Design 
Committee shall review all site plan submissions against the adopted Design Standards and 
provide a letter of recommendation to the Planning Department as part of the official site plan 
application to the Township.  

B. PERMITTED USES 
1) One-family, two-family, three- or four-family, and multiple-family dwellings, including uses 

and buildings accessory thereto. 
2) Any business primarily for the retail sale of merchandise or services in which any 

manufacturing, assembling or fabricating is merely incidental to and an unsubstantial part of 
said business. 

3) Banks, credit unions, savings and loan offices and similar financial institutions. 
4) Administrative, business, or professional offices. 
5) Laundromats and dry-cleaning establishments, excluding those establishments providing 

cleaning services for other laundromat and dry-cleaning establishments. 
6) Hotels, motels. 
7) Restaurants. 
8) Hospitals and medical clinics. 
9) Essential services. 
10) Indoor theatres. 
11) Passenger bus terminals, excluding facilities for the overnight storage of buses. 
12) Accessory buildings and uses customarily incidental to the foregoing. 
13) Pet shops. 
14) Houses of worship. 
15) Commercial Center. 
16) Proprietary schools and colleges. 
17) Child Care Centers and Adult Care Centers. 
18) Funeral homes. 
19) Private clubs. 
20) Nursing, convalescent, handicapped, or senior citizens' homes. 
21) Drive-in service window or drive-through services for businesses. 
22) Skating rinks, bowling alleys, indoor recreational facilities and health clubs. 
23) Buildings and regulator stations for essential services. 
24) Publicly owned and operated buildings and uses including community buildings and public 

parks, playgrounds, and other recreational areas. 
25) Brewpub. 
26) Microbrewery. 
27) Wine Tasting Room. 
28) Craft food and beverage production facility, limited to 8,000 square feet gross floor area. 
29) Scientific or medical laboratories, engineering, testing or design facilities, or other theoretical 

or applied research facilities. Typical uses include electronics research laboratories, 

54

http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1910
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1885
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1894
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1907
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1880
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1856
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1867
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1865
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=2590
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=346
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1880
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1861
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1860
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1902
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1931
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1871
http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1886


 

  
10/4/2023 DRAFT DENSITY BONUS 10 

 

environmental research and development firms, agricultural and forestry research labs, and 
pharmaceutical research labs. 

30) Printing, lithographic, blueprinting, and similar uses. 
31) Mixed use buildings, which entail two or more different uses. Mixed use buildings shall be 

comprised of a mixture of first-floor commercial, retail, office and/or residential uses, with 
upper floor office and/or residential uses.  

C. PERMITTED USES WITH CONDITIONS  
Subject to administrative review applying the same standards as set forth in Article 49. 
a) Home Occupations 
b) Larger Facilities for Child and Adult Foster Care 
c) Group Day Care Home 
d) Bed and Breakfast Inns 
e) Golf Courses, Parks, and Outdoor Recreational Areas 
f) Assembly and Convention Halls. 
g) Veterinary, Small Animal Clinics 

D. DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS  
All development within the Mixed Use District shall adhere to the approved Mixed Use District’s 
comprehensive development plan, including the adopted design standards, and the following 
standards:  

1) Residential 
Residential designated areas within the comprehensive development plan shall be 
subject to an administrative review by the Planning Department applying the standards 
of the Subdivision/Site Condominium Ordinance or the Residential Condominium 
Standards which shall be modified by the general development standards outlined 
below.   

2) Commercial 
Commercial designated areas within the comprehensive development plan shall be 
subject to an administrative review by the Planning Department and shall meet the 
requirements outlined in Article 64 Site Plan Review, which shall be modified by the 
general development standards outlined below.  

3) Mixed-Use Development 
Shall follow both the Residential and Commercial requirements set forth above. 

4) General Development Standards 
i. There shall be no minimum lot area or frontage requirements unless 

outlined in the Mixed Use District’s comprehensive development plan.  
ii. Setbacks 

a. Front Yard: 15 feet 
b. Side Yard: 10 feet 
c. Rear Yard: 15 feet 
d. The Planning Commission may approve reduced setbacks in a manner 

that is consistent with the approved comprehensive development plan, 
encourages a consistent street wall and provides for a usable sidewalk 

55



 

  
10/4/2023 DRAFT DENSITY BONUS 11 

 

area and a more attractive pedestrian environment. Applicant must 
officially request the reduction and provide reasoning for the request. 

iii. Residential unit sizes shall be regulated by Section 50.20 of the Ordinance. 
iv. All roadways shall be designed and constructed as Streets to Road 

Commission of Kalamazoo County.  
v. Sidewalks shall connect the road frontage sidewalks to all front building 

entrances, parking areas, central open spaces, and any other destination 
that generates pedestrian traffic. 

vi. No outdoor storage shall be permitted in this district. 
vii. Residential accessory structures shall conform to the requirements as 

specified in Section 57.00 Accessory Buildings Serving a Primary Residence. 
E. PROCESS 
The Planning Department shall have the authority to administratively deny, approve, or approve with 
conditions all site plans submitted for review under this section. The Planning Department shall record 
its conclusions, its decisions, the basis for its decision, and any recommended conditions to be 
imposed in conjunction with an affirmative decision. The Planning Director shall have the discretion 
to forward any Site Plan submitted for administrative approval to the Planning Commission for final 
determination. If administrative approval is denied, the applicant may appeal the decision to the 
Planning Commission. With all submissions, a letter of recommendation from the corresponding MU 
District’s Design Committee shall be provided. 

56



 

 

October 5, 2023 
 
Mtg Date:   November 16, 2023 
 

To:  Planning Commission  
 

From:  Iris Lubbert, AICP, Planning Director 
 

Subject: Introduction: 57.80 Keeping of Livestock and Honey Bees 
 

 
While responding to an inquiry about the number and type of livestock permitted on a property, Staff became 
aware that the relevant Ordinance section was not clear and open to interpretation. To clarify and ensure 
consistent interpretation, staff is recommending Section 57.80 be amended. The Planning Commission is 
asked to review the proposed language, provide feedback, and if deemed appropriate set a public hearing for 
the formal consideration of the text.   
  
Attachments: Proposed amendments to Section 57.80 (proposed changes are in red) 

57



57.80 KEEPING OF LIVESTOCK AND HONEY BEES 
The keeping of poultry, swine, horses, rabbits, sheep, goats, other similar livestock (collectively referred 
herein as animals), and honey bees for noncommercial purposes is permitted under the following 
conditions: 

A. Activities shall be for the private enjoyment of the property owners conducted for 
noncommercial purposes. 

B. Acreage requirements. Acreage requirements are cumulative for exclusive of each animal size, 
excluding honey bees, meaning the property must have the minimum required acreage for 
eachall animals onsite.  

1. Large animals. One acre for each large animal (more than 200 pounds at maturity), 
including horses, cattle, and swine, or similar animals. 

2. Moderate-sized animals. One-quarter acre for each moderate-sized animal (35 
to 200 pounds at maturity), including sheep, goats, or similar animals. 

3. Small animals.  All parcels, lots, and building sites up to one acre shall be permitted 
up to five small animals (under 35 pounds at maturity), including chickens, ducks, 
turkeys, rabbits, or similar animals.  One additional small animal shall be permitted 
for each additional one-quarter acre of property. 

4. Honey bees. The maximum allowed number of colonies permitted on a lot, 
parcel, or building site shall be limited as follows: 

 Lot, Parcel, or Building site Acreage  Maximum number of colonies permitted 
 Up to ¼ acre  2 

 ¼ acre to ½ acre  4 

 ½ to 1 acre  6 

5. For a Lot, Parcel, or Building Site over an acre, 8 colonies are allowed plus 1 
additional colony for each additional one-quarter acre. 

… 

58


	1. 11-16-2023 PC Agenda
	2. Public Comment Policy_Back of Agenda
	3. DRAFT PC Minutes 10 26 2023
	Article 66 — Conditional Rezoning Considerations

	4. PC 2024 meeting dates  DRAFT
	5. Staff report to PC - 2999 S 11th St
	6. P&Z Application
	7. Site Plan 10-22-23
	2324-C1-SURVEY-Model
	2324-C2-SESC-Model
	2324-C3-DEMO-Model
	2324-C4-LAYOUT-Model
	2324-C5-GRADING-Model
	2324-C6-STORMWATER-Model
	2324-C7-UTIL-Model
	2324-C8-LANDSCAPE-Model
	2324-CP-PHOTO
	2324-X-A2-Model

	8. Exterior Elevations
	9. Applicant letter of intent
	10. memo Private Street Ordinance
	11. memo MU Ordinance
	12. MU District DRAFT_ 10-4-2023
	13. memo livestock ordinance
	14. Proposed Ordinance amendment
	57.80 KEEPING OF LIVESTOCK AND HONEY BEES

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



